STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
) FOR THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
COUNTY OF COLLETON )
State of South Carolina, ) Case Nos: 2022-GS-15-00592
) 2022-GS-15-00693
) 2022-GS-15-00594
v. ) 2022-GS-15-00595
)
) STATE’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT’S
Richard Alexander Murdaugh, ) MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL; AND
) STATE’S MOTIONS TO STRIKE
Defendant. )
)

Richard Alexander Murdaugh (“Murdaugh”) was convicted for the murders of his
wife Maggie Murdaugh and son Paul Murdaugh by a jury before this Court in Colleton
County on March 2, 2023. This Court sentenced Murdaugh to consecutive sentences of life
without parole on March 3, 2023. After filing a notice of appeal, and duri_ng the pendency of
that appeal, Murdaugh filed in the Court of Appeals of South Carolina on September 5,
2023, a “Motion to Suspend Appeal and for Leave to File Motion for New Trial.” On
October 17, 2028, the Court of Appeals granted the request to hold the appeal in abeyance
and remanded the matter to this Court to permit Murdaugh to file his motion pursuant to
Rule 29(b), SCCrimP. Murdaugh so filed with the Colleton County Clerk of Court on
October 27, 2023.

| Murdaugh broadly claims that he is entitled to a new trial based upon allegations
that the Clerk of Court of Colleton County, Becky Hill, improperly attempted to influence
the jury’s decision. In support of his claim, Murdaugh offers affidavits from one juror who
participated in deliberations, one who was removed for dishonestly concealing her own
improper communications about the case, and two hearsay affidavits from his counsel’s
paralegal. Murdaugh additionally advances a sweeping conspiratorial theory about wholly

irrelevant Facebook posts with scant evidence to support it. The State responds as follows:



I. LAW AND PROCEDURE: Colorable Claims of After-Discovered
Improper External Influence on a Jury May Necessitate a Judiciaily-
Conducted Inquiry to Confirm the Validity of the Verdict as Free from
External Influence, through which Defendant Must Show Actual
Prejudice.

The law permits, but skeptically receives motions for new trials based on after-
discovered evidence, and never does the law permit highly motivated convicts to put their
" own jury on trial. “There can be no doubt that motions of this sort should be received with
the utmost caution, because, as it is said by a learned judge, there are but few cases tried in
which something new may not be hunted up, and also because it tends to pexjury[.]” State v,
Mathis, 174 8.C. 344, 177 S.E. 318, 320 (1934) (quoting State v. David, 14 S.C. 428, 432
(1881)). “[Jt would have a mischievous tendency, after all the evidence on the part of the
state had been fully disclosed, to allow one, with his life in danger, an cpportunity, by the
assistance of confederates, to procure unprincipled witnesses to contradict the evidence on
the part of the state, and thereby defeat the ends of justice.” Id. (quoting Staie v. Harding,
2 8.C.L. (1 Bay) 287 (1800)).

Nonetheless, criminal defendants have a right to a fair and impartial jury, and
private communications or contact with jurors during a criminal trial about the matter
pending before them may necessitate an evidentiary hearing and, if the defendant can show
actual prejudice, a new trial, State v, Kelly, 331 8.C. 132, 502 S.E.2d 99 (1998); see also
Smith v. Phillips, 455 1U.S. 209, 215 (1982) (“This Court has long held that the remedy for:
allegations of juror partiality is a hearing in which the defendant has the cpportunity to
prove actual bias.”); State v. Green, 432 S.C. 97, 100, 851 8.E.2d 440, 441 (2020)

(unanimously declining to adopt Remmer v. United States, 347 U.S. 227 (1954} and its

presumptive prejudice standard in every instance of improper contact, and reversing the
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lower court opinion that did so)l. Not every inappropriate comment by a member of court
staff to a juror rises to the level of constitutional error. Green, 432 8.C. at 100, 861 8.E.2d
at 441; State v. Cameron, 311 8.C. 204, 207-08, 428 8.E.2d 10, 12 (Ct. App. 1993).2 “Were
that the rule, few trials would be constitutionally acceptable.” Phillips, 465 1.5, at 217.
Additionally, jurors are presumed to follow the law as instructed to them, to include
instructions of what constitutes proper evidence to consider in deliberations, and such
instructions are usually deemed to have cured the erroneous exposure to improper evidence
or argument. State v. Grovenstein, 335 8.C. 347, 353, 517 S.E.2d 218, 219 (1999).

Where a defendant knows or could have known of a constitutional issue at the time
of trial, the defendant ia obliged to timely raise that issue to the Court’s attention or else
waive it on future appeals. State v. Powers, 331 8.C. 37, 42-43, 501 S.E.2d 116, 118 (1998),
State v. McWee, 322 8.C. 387, 472 8.E.2d 235 (1996); State v. Byram, 326 8.C. 107, 118, 485

S.E.2d 360, 363 (1997); State v. McWee, 322 S.C. 387, 391, 472 S.E.2d 235, 238 (1996).

1 To whatever extent Murdaugh may insist on Remmer as controlling, Federal courts are hardly
consistent in interpreting and applying it. Compare United Staies v. Frost, 125 F.8d 3486, 377 (6th
Cir. 1997) (Helding that not all communications with jurors warrant & hearing and that the
defendant must show that unauthorized contact created actual juror bias); United Siates v. Johnson,
954 F.3d 174, 179 (4th Cir. 2020) (If a defendant makes a threshold showing of a “credible allegation”
that an unauthorized juror contact was made, they are entitled to a rebuttable presumption of
prejudice and an evidentiary hearing to determine what actually transpired and whether what
actually happened was harmless). The U.S. Supreme Court’s statement in Smith v. Phillips that
defendant must prove actual bias abrogates Hemmer to whatever extent it suggests otherwise. See
Smith, 455 U.8. at 2156-16 (remedy is a chance to prove actual bias, not implied bias). Finally, a
significant portion of the Supreme Court of the United States has suggested that Remmer
pronounces no constitutional rule at all. See Shoop v. Cunningham, 598 U.8. __, 143 8.Ct. 37 (2022)
(Thomas, J.; Alito, J.; Gorsuch, J.; dissenting from denial of PWC) (“Not only did Remmer not cleaxly
establish the Sixth Circuit’s ‘any colorable claim’ rule, it is not even clear that Remmer established
any constitutional rule. . . . One could just as naturally—perhaps more naturally—read Remmer as a
case about new-trial motion practice under the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure than as one
about the requirements of constitutional due process.”).

2 Murdaugh also cites to Cameron but in that portion of the opinion which does not state the legal
standard, but rather quotes a portion of a 4% Cireuit Court of Appeals opinion inconsistent with the
standard acknowledged by Cameran and more subsequently clarified in Smith and most recently in
Green. Murdaugh must show both that the alleged improper communications occurred and that
jurors were actually biased as a result.
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Where a defendant does not learn of a constitutional violation until after trial, the
defendant is obliged to seek relief within one year of the actual discovery of the viclation or
when it could have been digcovered through reasonable diligence, or within one year of the
sending of the remittitur from appeal. See Rule 29(b), SCCrimP (as much in context of
after-discovered evidence); 8.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-45 (in the context of the Uniform Post-
Conviction Procedure Act).?

A primao facie showing that a defendant is entitled to relief is necessary before an
evidentiary hearing can be granted. State v. Butler, 261 S.C. 355, 868, 200 S.E.2d 70, 71
(1973); State v. Farris, 651 8.C. 176, 28 S.E. 370 (1897); State v. Green, 46 5.C. 566, 27
S.E.2d 663 (1896). A jury poll may cure any procedural ixregularities, and confirm that
each juror approves of the verdict returned and that no one has been coerced or induced to
agree to a verdict to which he or she does not actually assent. 89 C.J.S. Trial § 1002; State
v. Linder, 276 S.C. 304, 308-09, 278 S.E.2d 335, 338 (1981),

If that prima focie showing is made, the resultant “evidentiary hearing” is a strietly
limited, judicially-conducted affair, particularly as concerns examination of the jurors. The
competency of jurors as witnesses is strictly citcumscribed by the Rules of Evidence:

Upon an inquiry into the validity of a verdict or indictment, a juror may not

testify as to any matter or statement occurring during the course of the jury’s

deliberations or 1o the effect of anything upon that or any other juror's mind

or emotions as influencing the juror to assent to or dissent from the verdict or

indictment or concerning the juror's mental processes in connection

therewith, except that a juror may testify on the question whether

extraneous prejudicial information was improperly brought to the jury’s

attention or whether any outside influence was improperly brought to bear
upon any juror. Nor may a juror’s affidavit or evidence of any statement by

3 Murdaugh's motion is filed pursuant to Rule 29(b), SCCrimP, which pertains to “evidence” typically
coneeived as facts which could have been presented to a jury at trial relevant to guilt or innocence.
Cf. State v. Caskey, 273 8.C. 325, 266 S.5.2d 737 (1979) (“(1) Is such as would probably change the
result if 2 new trial was had; (2) Has been discovered since the trial; (3) Could not by the exercise of
due diligence have been discovered before the trial; (4) Is material to the issue of guilt or innocence;
and, (5) Is niot merely cumulative or impeaching.”).
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the juror concerning a matter about which the juror would be precluded from
testifying be received for these purposes.

Rule 606(b), SCRE; see also State v. Gray, 438 8.C, 130, 882 5.E.2d 469 (Ct. App. 2022)
(quoting State v. Piitman, 378 8.C. 527, 563, 647 3.5.2d 144, 157 (2007)) (“Generally, juror
testimony is not allowed regarding the deliberations of the jury or internal influences.”).

Both the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals commended the trial court’s “deft
handling” in Green for the process it followed in investigating its own allegations of
improper communication between a bailiff and a member of the jury. “The trial court
questioned each juror and the bailiff, which proved ‘there was no reasonable possibility the
[bailiffs] comments influenced the verdict.” Green, 432 S.C. at 100, 851 S.E.2d at 441.
More specifically, the Yonorable Donald B. Hocker, immediately after publishing the
verdict 4 cleared the courtroom of all present save the lawyers involved in the case, the
Clerk, and the Judge's staff, then brought out each juror individually and polled them on
the record, asking the following questions (with minor variations):

Was your verdict guilty on both charges and is that still your verdict?®

Was your verdict based cne-hundred percent on the testimony, evidence, and
law presented at this trial?

Was your verdict influenced in any manner by any communications with any
of the bailiffs or any other person outside of the twelve member jury?

Did you have any communication with any of the bailiffs or with a third-party
not part of the jury, and if so please relay to the Court what those
communications were.

State v. Green, App. Case No. 2017-001382, Record on Appesl at 554-69. Similarly, in Siate
v. Kelly, upon learning that a juror had introduced “a religious pamphlet concerning God’s

view on capital punishment” to the rest of the jury, the trial court individually questioned

4 In the pressnt case, we are now many months, “documentaries,” and juror interviews removed from
the verdict, and so the question of *is that still your verdict” is not one of probative value.
& See fn. 3, above.
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the jurors “to determine who, if anyone, had read the pamphlet and what information was
contained in the pamphlet.” Kelly, 331 8.C. at 139-40, 502 S.E.2d at 103-04. The trial court
also conducted the questioning in Sigte v. Bryant, using questions submitted by the parties
after they learned of improper contact with jurors by an investigator. 354 5.C. 390, 393-94,
581 S.E.2d 157, 159 (2003).

Thus, the established pragtice is that when considering allegations of inappropriate
communications, the Court should voir dire the complaining juror, each juror who engaged
in the final deliberations, and the alleged improper communieator (in this case, the Clerk)
with a mind to at least (1) whether the communication actually occurred and, if so, its
context and substance; (2) the muumber of jurors exposed to the improper communication; (3)
the weight of the evidence properly before the jury; and (4) the likelihood that curative
measures were effective in reducing the prejudice. See State v. Harris, 340 S.C, 59, 530
S.E.2d 626 (2000) (listing the last three factors); State v. Green, 427 8.C. 223, 229, 830
S.E.2d 711, 7138 (Ct. App. 2019) (“The trial court then brought each juror out separately for
individual questioning on the record.”).

But for proposed gquestions submitted and subject to judicial pre-approval, the Court
should not permit interrogation of the jurors by the parties or their attorneys. Jurors are
citizens who have committed a tremendous service to their community and country through
the sacrifice of time and effort to weigh on the most serious issue that can he put to them: a
man’s guilt and his freedom. Jury duty is a cornerstone civic duty, and needless exposure
of jurors to litigative stress and impeachment by zealous attorneys, particularly in a case of
with this level public exposure, can only sexve to further discourage citizens from willingly

participating in this duty.
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IL.

TRIAL: Near the End of Murdaugh’s Trial, Separately Sourced Reports
of Improper Discussions and Social Media Posts Were Brought to the
Court and Investigated, Resulting in the Excusal of Juror 785, Who Now
Raises Allegations He or She Expressly Denied to the Court When
Examined.

Portions of the trial transcript illuminate or are otherwise relevant to resolving the

allegations now raised by Murdaugh. The State excerpts and summarizes them as follows:

a. The Court consistently instructed jurors to not discuss the case, and to
only consider the competent evidence presented in the courtroom.

Once the jury was selected, the Court promptly admonished the original eighteen

jurcrs that “[i]t is important for you to know that you are not to discuss the case with each

other or with anyone else, and not to endeavor to find out any information about this case

other than what you will see herein the jury —in the courtroom.” (Tr. 411, 1L 12.16). After

a break, and during the Court’s preliminary instructions, it again emphasized the

importance of not discussing the case and accepting only the evidence presented in the

courtroom:

Until I tell you that it’s time to do so, you cannot discuss the case with
anyone, including your fellow jurors. You cannot discuss the case with
family, friends, or anyone else. The attorneys in the case, you cannot discuss
it with them or any parties or anyone else that might be connected with the
case. Should you discover that a fellow juror is violating that oath and that
order, you are to bring that to my attention.

Now, it’s also — and it's vital that you do not seek information outside
of the courtroom during the ease. That means that you're not to search
internet websites, watch television reports, news reports, any other form of
social media accounts of the case because you are sworn to decide this case
based on the facts as you determine them to be, and based on the evidence
presented in the case, as well as the law as I give it to you.

(Tr. 417-18).

Consistently throughout the trial, and even at points during jury selection, the -

Court reminded and admonished jurors to not discuss the case. (Tr. 99, 1. 10-1Z; Tr, 127, L.

13-20;

Tr. 177, 1L 22-25; Tr. 462, 11. 12-18; Tr, 502, 1L 2-4; Tr. 566, 11. 9-11; Tr. 627, 11. 14-15;
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Te. 710, 11 18-19; Tx. 810, 1L 21-23; Tr. 840, 11. 6-8; Tr. 861, 11 18-20; Tr. 908, 1. 24-25; Tr.
1001, 1. 6-8; Tr. 1125-26; Tr. 1251, 1. 10-12; Tr. 1518, 1L 8-5; Tr. 1535, 1L. 13-18; Tr. 1694, 1L
24-25; Tr. 1950, 11. 20-21; Tr. 1966, 1. 11-14; Tr. 2140, 11, 14-15; Tr. 2228, 1. 23-25; Tr. 2304,
1L 13-15; Tr. 2480, 1L 16-17; Tr. 2642, 1. 17-18; Ty. 2649, 11 12-14; Tr. 2877, 1L 22-24; Tr.
2938, 11. 16-18; Tr. 3005, 1. 18-20; Tr. 3084, 1L. 4-5; Tr. 3058, 11 4-5; Tr. 3231, 1. 1-2; Tr.
5322, 1I. 8-10; Tx. 3352, 1L 6-8; Tr. 3884, 11. 14-16; Tr. 3451, 11. 19-20; Tr. 3553, 1. 18-14; Tr.
9831, 1L 8-9; Tr. 3883, 1L 4-6; Tr. 3904, 1. 9-10; Tr. 3923, 1. 7-8; Tr. 3972, 11 20-21; Tr. 4048,
1I. 2-4; Tr. 4130, 11, 15-21; Tr. 4202, 1. 12-14; Ty, 4271, 11. 12-18; Tr, 4310, 1L 13-14; Tr. 4394,
11. 21-25; Tr. 4462, 11. 14-16; Tr. 4534, 11 13-14; Tr, 4593, 1. 20-21; Tr. 4693, 1L 12-14; Tr.
4748, 11, 17-19; Tr. 4774, 1L 21-22; Tr. 4890, L. 16-20; Tr. 4966, 1. 20-24; Tr. 5014, 1. 18-20;
Ty. 5065, L. 5-6; Tx. 5084, 11, 8-12; Tr. 5147, 1L. 20-21; Tx. 5280, 1L, 16-17; Tr. 5359, 1L 22-23;
Te. 55286, 1L 10-12; Tr. 5656, L. 2-5; Tr. 5668, 11, 20-25; Tx. 6816, 11. 18-15; Tr. 5851, 1. 8-11).8

In its charge to the jury at the end of the case, the Court instructed the jury they
were to accept only the evidence presented, and that they were the sole judges of credibility:

‘ You are to consider only the testimony which has been presented from
this witness stand, along with other exhibits that — and evidence presented
during the trial. Any other evidence or exhibits which have been made a part

of the record you may consider, along with any stipulations made by counsel.

Vou are also the judges, the sole judges of the credibility, that is the
believability, of the witnesses who have testified and of the evidence offered.

[..]

It becomes your duty as juroxs to analyze and to evaluate the
evidence, and determine that evidence, which convinces you of its truth. [. . ]

(Tr. 5853-84). In addition to the dozens of times the Court told the jury “da not discuss the

cage,” prior to the close of evidence, the Court again instructed jurors: “If your deliberations

6 The State cannot confirm that every admonition to the jury to not discuss the case is here cited firom
the 5,895-page transeript, however the Court congistently admomnished the jury with “do not discuss
the case” upon breaks in the proceedings, and the citaticns here provided represent an index of such
verbiage.
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necessitate an overnight break, you may use these [electronic] devices as necessary, but you
may not use them to communicate with anyone about the case until the case is over.” (Tr.
5862, 1. 18-21). The Court further instructed jurors that an overnight break in
deliberations was a possibility, and that if they so broke that they were not to seek
information and should avoid the use of electronic devices. (Tr. 5862-64).

b. Certain statements attributed to Clerk Hill by Juror 630 closely
resemble statements made in Court by the State.

The parties made their opening statements on Wednesday, January 25, 2023. The
State, as part of its own opening statements, advised the jury:

You're going to see video statements of Alex Murdaugh. You're going to see &
body-worn camera of him at the scene when law enforcement arrives and
hear what he says, and hear what he says about that night. You're going to
hear three recorded statements on video that he gave with law enforcement,
and you're going to hear how things progressed about what he says, and what
e says he did that night. Waich those closely. Waich his expressions. Listen
to what he's saying. Listen to what he's not saying. Use that common sense.
Does this seem right or does something seem & little off? Does something
seem a little off about this?

(Tr. 426, 11. 7-18) (emphasis added). The jurors so complied, and were closely attentive
throughout the trial.
Af the end of its initial closing argument, the State implored the jury to not let
Murdaugh fool them: .
This is what he did. This is what he did right here. This defendant, on the
other hand, has fooled everyone, everyone, Everyone who thought they were
close to him. Everyone who thought they knew he was — who he was, he’s
fooled them all. And he fooled Maggie and Paul, too, and they paid for it with
their lives, Don't let him fool you, too.
(Tr. 5668, 11. 7-13) (emphasis added). Later, the State, in its final eloaing argument,
returned to the subject of body language while addressing the testimony of Mushelle
Shelley Smith:

Do you. think she knew right then? And that's real. That's real. Shelly is
real. You saw her. Body language is so tmportant in life. Body Language.
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Mer. Waters was talking about with the defendant, all of our body longuage.
Did you see Shelly's?

(Tr. 5828, 11. 6-10) (emphasis added). The jurors were not fooled, paid attention to body
language, and convicted Murdaugh. _ . '
c. The Court thoroughly investigated allegations of improper
communications by Juror 785 and ultimately dismissed the juror for
those communieations, but gave no weight to the supposed Facebook
post reported to the Court by Clerk Hill in a conversation which was
placed on the record.
On Tuesday, February 28, 2023, after the conclusion of the reply examination of
Kenny Kinsey, the Court initiated an in camere hearing regarding an e-mail that raised

juror concerns. (Ir. 5526-27). In sum and substance, the e-mail represented that the

unidentified author heard from an unidentified co-worker that said co-worker’s landlord

was a juror who said Murdaugh was innocent, and that said juror “works at the monkey
farml" (Tr. 5527, 11..2-10). Murdaugh's counsels advised the Court to disregard the e-mail
as mere noise in a high profile case, but the State expressed concern about the allegation: of
a clear violation of the Court’s instructions o the jury and noted there were still alternate
jurcrs. (Tr. 5527-82). Counsel Griffin speculated without support that the e-mail was an
orchestrated effort to get the juror removed. (Tr. 5532, 1L, 13-14).

The Court then informed the parties of its exchange with Clerk Hill, who had
evidently learned of the e-mail:

THE COURT: Okay. She — after I showed you all this email, we came back
here, and the clerk came in and asked whether we had heard the same thing
about a juror, about the juror, and we were in the midst of trying to figure out
who the juror was that this pertained to since it did not indicate a juror
number. It just said someone who worked at the monkey farm. So, the clerk
then said that she was reading her Facebook mesasages over the weekend.

Gabby, help me out with the fact. Did she say over the weekend?

LAW CLERK: She said on Friday she was going through her timeline on
Facebook and saw the post from this man who was supposed to be the ex-
husband.
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THE COURT: Yeah, [EX-H[JSBAND]', the ex-husband of this juror, and he
_ his post was that she was discussing the case with various people. I think
that's what Becky said.

LAW CLERK: Correct.

THE COURT: We asked Becky to — the clerk, to make a copy, or get a eopy
of the Facebook that she was referring — the post that she was referring to.
She came back a little while later and said that it had been deleted by this
[EX-HUSBAND], and that she brought — printed out what remains on his
post, which was him stating that he — he posted an ugly post which he
deleted.

[. . . substance of a Facebook apology post, humorous exchange hetween Mr.
Meadors & Mr. Harpootlian . . .]

THE COURT: But the clerk said that she read the post where he was
discugsing that his ex-wife, the juror, has been discussing the case. Now, I
it was just very curious. We were talking about the e-mail, and the clerk
came in and was talking about a Facebook post, and they both - and she said
the juror works at the monkey farm. I was here trying to figure out what
jurcr works at the monkey farm, and this juror number 785 works with at
[BUSINESS NAME], Yemassee, South Carolina, which is the monkey farm.

[. . . discussion of what the “monkey farm”is . . J

THE COURT: And the clerk — the clerk said the juror that they were
posting about was a juror, [Juror 785), who works at the monkey farm, and
this email referenced the juror who works at the monkey farm.

(Tx. 533-36). Counsel Griffin suggested bringing in Juror 785; the Court agreed and noted
sts desire to also hear from Clerk Hill, who was not present at that time but had mentioned
the Facebook post earlier that day. (Tr. 5536, 1. 5-18).

After some discussions by the parties as to appropriate procedure and the desire of
the complainant to remain anonymous, as well as other trial procedural matters, the Court
conducted an in camera examination of Juror 7 85 “to discuss any conversations that [furor
785] have had with anybody about being on jury duty.” (Tr. 5550-51). As part of a brief
discussion about a missive allegedly posted to Facebook by Juror 785s ex-spouse, Juror T85
noted that Clerk Hill had alerted her to the alleged post. (Tr. 5551-53). The Court

specifically follewed up and asked:
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THE COURT: So, has she [Clerk Hill] discussed the case with any of — any
of the jurors? Has the clerk discussed anything about the case with anyone
on that jury?

JUROR: Not that I'm aware of.
(Tr. 5553, 1L. 22-25). Counsel Griffin, then satisfied, accepted Juror 785’s explanations and
argued he or she remained a competent juror. (Tr. 5555, 1. 18-22). Upon the State’s
expressed desire to know the identities of the persons who reported the improper contact to
the Court, the Court again summoned Juror 785 and elicited additional information
sufficient to identify the persons with whom the juror allegedly had the improper
conversation: two of Juror 785’s tenants, hereafter referred to as “Male Tenant” and
“Female Tenant”. (Tr. 5555-62). Shortly after 9 p.m. that evening, agents with the South
Carolina Law Enforcement Division Jocated them, interviewed them separately, and
prepared memoranda and recordings reflecting the interviews.

On Maxch 1, 2023, the twenty-seventh day of trial, the tenants met with ADAG
David Fernandez and DAG Donald J. Zelenka and executed affidavits consistent with their
statements to law enforcement the night before, which stated that Juror 785 had delivered
a feﬁ-igerator to them on Saturday, February 18, 2023, and briefly discussed the case.
After the jury view and the State’s initial closing, the Court convened another in camera
hearing to review the affidavits and examine Juror 785’s tenants. The Court asked Male
Tenant about his affidavit, and Male Tenant explained that he offered his opinion about the
case to Jurar 785, who had disclosed their role as a juror while speaking to Female Tenant
while they were delivering a refrigerator. (Tx. 5676, 1. 4-18). Juror 785 had replied to Male
Tenant that “she hadn’t decided either way because it was, you know. It was kind of early
in the cage, I guess, you know, that she made no decisions if he was guilty or if he wasn’t
guilty.” (Tr. 5676, 1. 20-25). The State then reviewed with Male Tenant his affidavit line

by line, which he confirmed as accurate. (Ty. 5677-79). When counsel Harpootlian asked
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Male Tenant to elaborate on Line 9 of the affidavit, in which Male Tenant recalled that
Juror 785 “stated that she didn’t believe there was any evidence to make her think the
Defendant was guilty at that time,” Male Tenant expressed that he took her to mean ghe
bad not made up her mind. (Tr. 5586-87).

The Court next examined Female Tenant. Feméle Tenant explained that Juror 785
disclosed while delivering the refrigerator that they were on the jury, which prempted Male
Tenant to offer his opinion as to Murdaugh's guilt. (Tr. 5694, 11, 2-25). Female Tenant

. recalled duror 785 replied “well, I can’t talk about it. She said, but as of now nothing —
reasonable doubt could make me say he’s guilty.” (Tr. 5694-95). When pressed by counsel
Harpootlian for as direet a restatement as Female Tenant could muster, Female Tenant
recalled Juror 785 said “[t|hat she could net without, you know, a doubt or whatever say he
was guilty.” (Tr. 5695, L. 21-24). Juror 785 did not explain to Female Tenant why she held
that position. (Tr. 6695-96). Female Tenant reaffirmed her recollection in her affidavit,
that Juror 785 “indicated that she didn’t believe there was evidence beyond a shadow ofa
doubt or beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Murdaugh committed the crimes he is alleged
to have committed[.]” (Tr. 5696-97).

Aftor hearing arguments from attorneys for each of the parties, the Court noted that
“li|n many cases, typically without any inquiry this juror would be gone, you know, without
anything further. The juror would be gone without any discussion] . . . blecause she's
discussing the case and was ordered not to discuss the case. Hven if she discussed it for a
very short period of time, she’s having a discussion, so much so that this person
understands that it shouldn’t be ~ shouldn’t have taken place and sent this e-mail.” (Tr.
5708-09). The Court then summoned Clerk Hill to discuss the supposed Facebook post.

(Tr. 5709-10).
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(lerk Hill explained to the Court that she briefly saw a post the preceding Friday on
«Walterboro Word of Mouth” which she attributed to a juror's ex-spouse which said “that h3
noticed that his ex-wife was saying that she was on the jury and saying stuff about how her
verdict was going to be, and that he was the ex-husband, but she was known for talking
way too much. And then I just kept on serolling because that was encugh for me, I've
gotten enough.” (Tr. 5710, 11 13-23). Clerk Hill “figured” the post referred to Juror 785 and
alerted the Court after learning the Court had received an e-mail the following Monday.
(Tr. 5711, I 1-7). When Clerk Hill tried to find the post again at the Court’s directive, she
could not, but found another post by another account with the ex-spouse’s name that
apologized. for deleting & post made while drunk and possessed by Satan. (Tr. 6711, 11, 6-
18).

After some diseussion about the feasibility of finding the devil-afflicted suspected ex-
husband, the Court agked if the parties wished to locate him. (Tr. 5711-12). Counsel
Harpootlian very clearly declined: “I think not, Judge. I think if you would just
accommodate me, bring [Juror 785] in, ask [them] about the specifics of the conversation, If
{Juror 785] says yes, I'll have no complaints whatsoever.” (Tr. 5712, 1. 20-23).

The Court complied with counsel Harpootlian's request, again summoned Juror 785,
informed them the Court had met with the tenants, and asked if the juror could recalk
anything further about the conversation. Tr. 5718-14). dJuror 786 acknowledged delivering
the refrigerator and that the tenants had expressed opinions to her about the trial, but
denied expressing any of the juror’s thoughts to the tenants. (Tx. 5714-15). After
discussing Juror 785's ruse to claim they were in “Facebook jail” during trial, ahd irrelevant
particulars of their employment, counse] Harpootlian astutely observed the Juror 786

placed their spouse at the scene of the conversation. (Tx. 5715-23).
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Juror 785 called their spouse, put them on spesaker, and upon brief examination by
the Court, Juror 785's Spouse said the juror “was talking with my tenant’s gixlfriend, I
think, And, you know, I know they talked about the trial, but I don’t know to what extent,
if you know wiat I mean.” (Tr. 5724-25), The Spouse further explained “nobody was saying
like, you know, guilty or innocent, but they were talking about some of the facts that had
come out int eh case either way, you know.” (Tr. 5726, 1L 7-10). The Spouse also
acknowledged talking if there was any excitement in Juror 785's day each evening, .but that
they did not talk details. (Tx. 5727-28).

Finally, the Court granted counsgl Harpootlian the opporbunity to confront Juror
785 directly with their tenants’ affidavits, which the juror denied as inaccurate. (Tr. 5733-
34). Once Juror 785 was excused, and after a very brief discussion of the witnesses, counsel
Harpootlian declared “I'm not going to argue anymore about this. I'm going to defer —it's
your call, your judgment.” (Txr. 5734-35). “Your Honor, I'm not going to argue with
whatever you do. Okay.” (Tr. 5787, 1. 7-8).

The following morning March 2, 2023, aft;er reviewing the video recordings of the
interviews of the tenants, the Court excused Jurox 785 from service for offering her opinion
regarding evidence received up to the point of and during the conversations with the
tenants. (Tr. 5737-39). Counsel Harpootlian affirmatively declined to take any exception to
the ruling. (Tr. 5739, 1. 15-25). Juror 785 was summoned to the courtroom, advised of the
Court’s ruling, and upon inquiry about “[a] conversation [this] morning with Ms. Becky,”
the Court emphasized its ruling had nothing to do with anything brought up about the
juror's ex-spouse. (Tr. 5740-43). Juror 78%’s possessions, to include a dozen eggs, were
retrieved from the jury room and Juror 254 was promoted from alternate to the panel. (Tr.

5743-45).
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The Jury, which never deliberated with Juror 785 or alternate Juror 741, convieted
Mardaugh of killing his wife and son. (Tr. 5870-7 1). Upon inquiry by the Court, Counsel
Harpootlian requested the jury be individually polled; the Court so polled and each
individual juror affirmed “guilty” was their verdict and was remained their verdict. (Tr.
5872-74).

Less than one week Iater, attorney Joe McCulloch, represented to media that Juror
785 did not wish to speak publicly about the case and did not wish to be contacted. Rachel
Sharp, Infamous ‘egg juror’in Alex Murdaugh’s murder tricl asks to be left alone, The
Independent, March 8, 2023.7 At some point unknown to the State, McCullough also
assumed representation of Juror 630, and so represents each of the Jurors who have
provided affidavits to Murdaugh.

III. STATE’S MOTIONS TO STRIKE
. In support of his metion, Murdaugh provides various affidavits which are deficient
under the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. Notwithstanding any effort by the State to
grapple with the affidavits in its arpuments in Sections IV and V, below, the State must
respectfully move to strike portions of Murdaugh’s Motion for a New Trial as follows:

a. The State Moves to Strike as Inadmissible Hearsay the Affidavits of
paralegal Holli Miller.

Tn support of his motion, Murdaugh provides two affidavits from Counsel
Harpootlian’s paralegal Holli Miller which largely purport to reflect statements made to or
otherwise in her presence by two jurors, Juror 741 and Juror 326. See Motion for New

Trial, Exh. B & Exh, J.

7 Aéeessible at btios/iwww .the-igglgpegﬁ_egt.comlnewslﬂglﬂamericasicrimgialngmurdaugh-egg—

juror-trial-b2296532.himl as of November 6, 2023.
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Hearsay is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the
trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted. Rule 801(c},
SCRE. Hearsay is not admissible. Rule 802, SCRE.

An affidavit from Miller is not tantamount to an affidavit from the juror themaselves,
and constitutes textbook hearsay. Accordingly, the State moves to strike in part as
inadmissible hearsay Motion for a New Tyial Exhibit B at lines 4-11, Exhibit J at lines 2-9,
and any such part of the motion that relies thereon.

b. The State Moves to Strike as Inadmissible Under Rule 606(b), SCRE, All

Such Material As Regards Internal Functions and Deliberations of the
Jury.

In suppoert of his Motion, Murdaugh provides four affidavits which purport to reflect
statements made by jurors which, in part, pertain only o juror mental processes and
interactions with one another. See Motion for New Trial, Exh. A, B, H, and d.

As previously noted, jurors may neither testify nor may the Court aceept affidavits
which pertain to any matter or statement cceurring during the course of the jury’s
delibera;tions or to the effect of anything upon that or another jurcr’s mind or emotions,
excepting claims of outside influence or extraneous outside information. Rule 606(b),
SCRE; see also State v. Gray, 438 8.C. 130, 882 S.E.2d 469 (Ct. App. 2022) (denying without
a hearing a defendant’s motion for a new frial and refusing requested ingquiries as
prohibited by Rule 606 because they would cause jurors to reveal the subject matter of their
deliberations).

Remarks in the affidavits regarding juror’s thoughts about the evidence or one
another are not properly admissible or even relevant to the ultimate claim raised.
Accordingly, the State moves to strike in part as improper juror testimony Motion for a
New Trial Exhibit A at lines 4-6; Exhibit B at lines 7, 8, and 10; Exhibit H at lines 14-15;

Exhibit J at lines 5-7; and any such part of the motion that relies thereon,
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c. The State Moves to Strike All Such Material As Regards Murdaugh’s
Claims Regarding the Facebook Post(s), Book Deal, and Post-Trial
Media Interactions as Immaterial, Impertinent, and Scandalous.

The greater part of Murdaugh's motion is dedicated to an outlandish theory that
Clerk Hill deliberately fabricated the existence of a Facebook post implicating Juror 785 in
order to get them removed from the jury, force an outcome, and thereby profit from fame
and fortune.

To be clear, in an attached affidavit Clerk Hill affirms she made no such deliberate
fabrication, and she denies fabricating any Facebook post. (Exhibit A - Affidavit of
Mary Rebecea Hill). Indeed, the machinations alleged do not even begin to make sense.
Under Murdaugh's theory, Clerk Hill heard the Court had received an e-mail which
implicated a specific juror, then in immediate response on the fly reported a fictitious
Facebook post to implicate that same juror, then conspired with another staffer to quickly
and by sheer coincidence be lucky enough to find an apologetic post by somebody with the
same name as the juror's spouse, which she then reported to the Court in an effort to get an
uncertain juror removed so as to ensure some outcome that would support a book deal she
did not at the time have. Only Alex Murdaugh could conceive of such a confounded gambit
as even remotely plausible, and he is projecting his own caleulating, manipulative psyche
onto a dedicated public servant in an effort to save himself.

Strategically, Murdaugh’s inclusion of the Facebook post narrative appears to be a
desperate effort by Murdaugh to pre-emptively impeach Clerk Hill; to bring into dispute
irrelevant facts in order to support his Petition for a Writ of Prohibition pending in the
Supreme Court of South Carolina; and. to beef up what would otherwise be a thin, blandly
legal filing not likely to draw attention to the various media efforts of his legal team.

Whatever Murdaugh’s motivation, the Court expressly did not rely on the alleged

Facebook posts in removing Juror 785. (Tr. 5740-43). Therefore, whether Clerk Hill saw
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the alleged post, is mistaken as to the alleged post, or even fabricated it is of no
consequence to the validity of Murdaugh’s conviction or the actual claim raised by
Murdaugh of improper external influence upon the jury. Accordingly, the State moves to
strike entirely Motion for a New Trial Exhibits K, F, G, and L; and moves to strike in part
Motion for a New Trial Exhibit H at lines 3-9, 13, and 17-21; and any such part of the
motion that relies thereon.
IV. ARGUMENT 1; Even Assuming Ad Arguendo that All Facts Averred in
Murdaugh’s Motion are True, the Motion Fails to Make a Prima Facie
Showing That He Is Entitled to an Evidentiary Hearing or Relief.

Although Murdaugh's Motion for a New Trial makes various allegations as part of
its atterapt to craft a breathtaking conspiracy narrative, it ultimately boils down to a single
constitutional allegation: Clerk Hill told jurors not to believe Defendant, thereby violating
his right to an impartial jury. Accordingly, even if the State assumes ad arguendo that all
of the competent elements® of the affidavits provided are earnestly given,® the relevant
analysis is as demonstrated by the questioning in State v. Green: (1) was the juror’s verdiet
guilty; (2) was the juror’s verdict based on the evidence presented; (8) was the juror's
verdict influenced the alleged outside communication; (4) did the juror have any
communications about the case outside of deliberations with the jury? All of the other
details are irrelevant window-dressing.

Only one juror who participated in deliberations—Juror 630—ties to Clerk Hill any
statements remotely consistent with Murdaugh’s allegation of improper external influence:
“not to be fooled,” “watch him closely,” “lock at his actions,” and “loock at his movements.”

See Motion for New Trial, Exh. A at 11, 2-3. Even assuming for the sake of argument that

§ See Section I1I, supra.
» Tt ig difficult for the State to assume ad arguendo that they are all true as they are not consistent
with one another or with the trial record,
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Juror 630's recollection is accurate, and that he or she are not mis-remembering arguments
- pxpressly made by the State, Juror 630 does not attribute their verdict to the statements of
Clerk Hill, but rather avers that he or she voted guilty, despite some questions, “because
[Furor 680] felt pressured by the other jurors.” See Motion for New Trial, Exh. A at Iine 10,
That a juror felt pressured by othex jurors is not a valid basis to impeach a verdict. See,
geperazly State v. Franklin, 341 8.C. 555, 534 S.E.2d 716 (Ct. App. 2000) {due process not
implicated where other jurors verbally abused a holdout juror for at least four hours). Not
does Juror 630's complaint of feeling pressured by other jurors constitute evidence that he
or she t-JI' any other juror voted to convict because they were influenced by comments they
allegedly heard from Clerk Hill.

Murdaugh offers an affidavit which purports to represent statements made by Juror
326, although the affidavit is that of Counsel Harpootlian's paralegal, Hoili Miller. Kven if
the State accepts ad arguendo that Miller's. affidavit is the gquivalent of an affidavit from
Juror 326 themselves,10 it is unavailing to Murdaugh: Juror 826 contradicts Juror 630 and
recalled no such comments by Clerk Hill regarding Murdaugh'’s credibility. What Juror 326
did recall was a warning that the jurors would witness disturbing images, which is a
neutral “trigger warning,” and not one which puts a thumb on the scales of justice. To be
sure, the jurors did review disturbing images.

No affidavit attached to Murdaugh's motion from or about 2 deliberating juror shows
any effect on the verdict — even including Juror 630. Nothing else offered by Murdaugh
helps meet his burden of making a prima facie showing. Neither Juror 785 nor Juror 741l

participated in deliberations and thus cannot aver that their deliberations were influenced.

10 A heareay affidavit is still hearsay, and is not competent evidence. See Section 11L.a., supra.
i1 Tike Juror 826, the purported representations of Juror 741 are offered through Miller's hearsay
and are not competent evidence. See Section IlL.a., supra.
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Absent any representation that a deliberative juror's decision that Murdaugh was
guilty was actually influenced by the improper communications alleged, Murdaugh has
failed to make the prima facie showing necessary to justify so much as an evidentiary
hearing, let alone a new trial. Accordingly, Murdaugh’s Motion for a New Trial should be
summarily denied.

V. ARGUMENT 2: Should the Court Deem an Evidentiary Hearing
Necessary, the State Expects the Material Allegations wiil be Shown to
be Not Credibie.

In the alternative, in the event the Court concludes Murdaugh has made a showing
sufficient to necessitate an evidentiary hearing in this matter, the State expects that sworn
testimony to the Court will prove the allegations fo be unfounded and not credible. Since
Murdaugh's filing in the S.C. Court of Appeals, agents with the Scuth Carolina Law
Enforeement Division have successfully interviewed most of the jurors and the final
alternate juror: one juror declined to discuss the case ox deliberations (Juror 578), and two
jurors are represented by attorney Jos McCullough (Jurors 630 and 785), who at the time of
this writing has yet to consent to an unconditional interview with his clients. Clerk Hill
denies commenting to the jury regarding Murdaugh’s defense or testimony. (Exhibit A -
Affidavit of Mary Rebececa Hill).

Upon information and belief, SI.ED’s investigation into the allegations of jury

tampering produced the following answers from the jurors who deliberated:

Juror # Hear Remarks on See 1.on-1 Chats by Clerk Qther Concerns?
Evidence by Clerk Hill? Hill with Juror(s)?
Juror 193 | No - Maybe generally No If anything, people
pay attention were overly cautious.
Juror 254 | Watch Murdaugh's body | No No
language
Juror 326 | No — Graphic material Yes - Saw chat re: No
warning financial/child saupport
Juror 530 | No No No
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Juror 544 | No - Generally pay No Juror 830 is a tenant
attention, look at body of Juror 785, who is
language, and be upset.

observant,
Warned by Counsel

Harpootlian of a
subpoena if they did
not talk.

Juror 572 | No No No

Juror B78 Deelined to discuss the case or deliberations

Juror 589 | No No Spouse warned by
Harpcotlian of a
subpoena if they did
not talk,

Juror 630 No interview at the time of this writing

Juror 729 | No - Generally pay Yes - Had chat re: Denied statements
attention; heard no body financial/child support; regarding them in
language comments. saw Clerk chat with Affd of Juror 7856.
others
Uncomfortable when
Harpootlian waved
the gun around.

Juror 826 | No No No

Juror 864 | No . No It was Creighton
Waters in court
argument who told
jury to watch body
language.

(Exhibit B - Redacted Written Statements of Jurors). Perhaps most importantly,
none of the jurors who willingly interviewed with SLED reported feeling any
pressure or influence to reach their verdict.

Tn addition to the jurcrs, SLED interviewed court staff. Jury coordinator Willard
Polk Jr. reported that he was the interface between the jurors and the court and did not
hear Clerk Hill or any other person attempt to influence the jurora. No other court staff
witnessed any external influence on the jury either. (Exhibit C - Redacted Written
Statements of Certain Court Staff).

Altogether, the allegations raised in the affidavits provided by Murdaugh can be

explained as a combination of simple migtakes and, unfortunately, & non-credible affiant.
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As noted previously, a brief review of the record reflects that the verbiage Juror 630
recalled is, as Juror 864 noted, more properly attributable to arguments of The State. See
Section 2.b., supra. The State argued to the jury to not be “fooled” by Murdaugh, the State
advised the jury to watch Murdaugh “closely” in the context of his video recorded
statements, and the State emphasized the importance of body language. Id.

Juror 785, purportedly the landlord to Juror 630, was removed from the jury after
the Court determined he or she improperly convexsed about the case with other tenants
during trial in contravention of the Court's do_zens of admonitions not to do so. Juror 785
only recalled the “fooled by” language which was actually articulated by the State in its
closing argument the day before Juror 785 was dismissed. See Section 2.b., supra.

But most importantly, the Court specifically asked Juror 785 during the in camera
bearing if Clerk Hill had discussed the case with her or any other jurors to her knowledge,

and Juror 785 replied “not that Pm aware of” (Tr. 5553, 1. 22-25). It strains credulity to

believe that Juror 785 would not be aware of Clerk Hill’s supposed statements when
specifically asked by the Court at a time proximate to when they were allegedly made but
would suddenly recall them many months later after learning Clerk Hill published a book.
The remainder of Juror 785's affidavit reports incredible one-on-one conversations with
Clerk Hill which, aside from Juror 785’ inconsistent but more credible denial to the Court,
pertain only to the wholly iprelevant Facebook post. Finally, contrary to Juror 785’s
affidavit in support of the moticn for a new trial, the tenants of Juror 785 affirmed the
statements they made in their affidavits at trial and in camera testimony.

Alternate Jurer 741 would not sign an affidavit as requested by Murdaugh's
counsels and was evidently reluctant to do so. See Alex Murdaugh's Defense Team Seeks

New Trial Amid Jury Tampering Reports at 18:34-19:16, The Untold Story with Martha
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MacCallum (2028).12 Juror 741 told SLED investigators that Clerk Hill told the jurors that
the “defense is about to do their side and dor't let them confuse or convince you. They may
say things to confuse you.” Tlowever, neither Juror 630 nox Juror 785 clearly corroborate
Juror 741's recollection, and no other juror even comes close to doing 8o. Jurer 741 told
SLED that she was aware that Clerk Hill wrote critically of her attentiveness during trial,
and additionally noted that Clerk Hill told her after trial that no members of the media
wished to speak with her.

The greater weight of anticipated juror and court staff testimony is that Clerk Hill
made no materially improper comments. The State denies Murdaugh is entitled to relief
and gnticipates that any evidentiary hearing will only reaffirm the validity of his convietion
for the murders of Maggie and Paul Murdaugh.

Furthermare, even if Clerk Hill made any improper comments to the jury, the State
has found no juror who will aver that anything Clerk Hill said or did influenced their
verdict. The Court clearly instructed jurors to consider only the competent evidence
presented to them, and to apply the law as the Court gave it to them~—the jury
presumptively and affirmatively did so. Each individual juror reaffirmed their verdict
when polled by the Court and none reported any influence from any court staff. The Court's
instructions to consider only the competent evidence, and individual polling procedure after
the verdict was returned, served to disabuse jurors of any misconceptions which may have

developed over the weelts long trial and cure any errors which may have otherwise resulted.

12 Accessible at https:firadio foxnews

amid-jury- ngpenng—rgpg;j;g { and https:/fpodeasts. gppk.com!us.’ggdcgstfthe-un];p_ld»stnrx-witb-
ha-maece d14466305622=100062719 as of November 5, 2023.
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CONCLUSION
WHEREFORE, the State respectfully requests that this Court summarily deny
Murdaugh’s motion for a new trial or, barring that, convene an evidentiary hearing
consistent with that conducted in State v. Green and, upon hearing the testimony of the
jurors and witnesses presented, find Murdaugh’s allegations to be not credible and deny his

motion for a new trial.

Respectfully submitted,

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

S. CREIGHTON WATERS
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JOIINNY ELLIS JAMES JR.
Assistant Attorney General
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Exhibi

(Signed Affidavit of Mary Rebecca Hill)




STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA AFFIDAVIT OF

COUNTY OF RICHLAND  MARY REBECCA HILL

Personally appeared before me, the undersigned Notary Public duly authorized to
administer oaths, Mary Rebecea Hill, who, being duly sworn, deposes and says:

1. 1 am over the age of eighteen (18), and [ have the legal and mental competency 1o
give this sworn affidavit and give sworn testimony in court.

2. Thie affidavit is submitted at the request of the Attorney General of South
Carolina to address specific allegations contained in affidavits attached aé exhibits to Mr.
Murdaugh’s Motion for New Trial filed October 27, 2023.

3. There are numerous misrepresentations and false statements contained within the
Motion for New Trial to which I was not requested to specifically address. As such, this affidavit-
is not intended to address every allegation contained within the Motion for New Trial.

4, After being elected in 2020, 1 have served as the Clerk of Court in Colleton
County.

5. I was the elected Clerk of Court for Colleton County during the case of Stafe of
South Carolina v. Richard Alexemder Murdavgh.

6. 1 have reviewed Mr. Murdaugh’s Motion for New Trial filed October 27, 2023.

7. As 1o the allegations contained within the Affidavit of Juror #630:

a. I did not tell the jury “not fo be fooled” by evidence presented by Mr.
Murdaugh’s attorneys.

b. I did not instruct the jury to “watoch him closely.”

¢. Idid not instruct the jury to “lock at his actions.”

1

ot




d. 1did not instruct the jury to “look at his movements.”
e. I did not say to the jury, “this shonldn’t take uvs long.”
£, When Juror #826 asked to speak with me, the conversations took place in the
jury room hall within earshot of Bailiff, Bill Polk. The conversations did not
jnvolve the evidence, witnesses, or substance of the trial.
8. As to the allegations within the Affidavit of Holli Miller discussing an alleged
conversation with Juror #741:

a. 1did not have private conversations with Juror #826 in a bathroom.

b. My conversations with Juror #826 did not involve the evidence, witnesses, or
substance of the trial.

c. During the trial, I did not tell members of the jury that the media would want
to interview thern at the end of the trial,

d. During the trial, I did niot hand out business cards of media personnel.

I did not tell jurors: “Yall are going to hear things that will throw you all off.
Don’t let this distract or mislead you.”

®

9. As to the allegations within the Affidavit of Juror #785;

a. I did not tell jurors not to be “fooled by” the evidence presented by Alex
Murdaugh’s attorneys.

b. I did not ask Juror #7835 whether Juror #785 was inclined to vote guilty or niot
guilty.

¢. 1 did not tell Juror #785 that SLED and Colleton County Sheriffs Office
personnel went to her ex-husband’s house.

P

1 did not tell Juror #785 that I would “reinstate” a restraining order against her
ex-husband.

e. 1did not state to Juror #785 that “the Murdaughs” probably “got to him.”

h

1 did not ask Juror #785 about her opinions regarding Mr. Murdaugh’s guilt.

g. 1 did not ask Juror #785 “well, what makes you think he’s guilty?”

X




h. I did not discuss the evidence presented af trial with Juror #785.
i. Ididnot téll Juror #785 that everything that Mr. Murdaugh said had been lies.

j. 1 did not tell Juror #785 to “forget about the guns, they will never be seen
again.”

k. 1 did not ask Juror #785 about the views of the rest of the jury.

I 1did not tell Juror #785 that if the foreperson would “just go in and ask for a
raise in hands this would be over and done with.”

m. T did oot inform Juror #785 that “everyone needs to be on the same page.”

5. Ididnot fabricate, nor did I oreate any Facebook post related to Juror #785.

10.  As to the allegations within the Affidavit of Holli Miller discussing an alleged

conversation with Juror #326:

a. T did not tell jurors they were prohibited from taking a smoke break during
deliberations.

FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETH NAUGHT.

MARY REBECCA HILL

Sworn to and subscribed before me

on this { g day of Novewpa2023
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